EXHIBIT PWC.1 - Final Brief of Appellant 07/21/20

RECEIVED

Jul 21 2020

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
The South Carolina Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Judge of Circuit Court

RECEIVED

Jul 26 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Civil Action No. 2019-CP-23-01501
Appellate Case No. 2020-000506

Raymond A. Wedlake, as a Member of Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc., Appellant,

v.

Scott Bashor, William Craigo, Christopher Edwards, Denis Esteve and Charles Koshis in
their capacity as Members of the current Board of Directors of Woodington Homeowners'
Association, Inc. and Doe Entities 1-10, and John & Jane Does 1-10, Respondents,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. The Judge erred in the granting of Summary Judgment which is an error of law under Rule 56, SCRCF, since clearly genuine issues of material fact existed.**

1.1 Rule 56(c) Does Not Allow Summary Judgment Where, As Here, Genuine Issues Of Fact Exist, Regardless Of Other Claims As To Matter Of Law

1.1a Numerous Disputed Material Facts Exist

1.1b The Order Granting Summary Judgment Improperly Failed to Address the Issue of Existence of Material Facts in Dispute and Served Instead as a Disposition of the Merits of the Case and is Erroneous in Several Respects

1.1c Specifics of Legal Analysis

1.2 The Order Itself Attests To Genuine Issues Of Fact, All Of Which Confirm Alleged Breach Of Duty

1.3 Genuine Issues Of Fact Were Contained In Appellant's Original Complaint

2. The Order Quotes By-Laws But Does Not Mention The “Covenants”, That Control When By-Laws Are In Conflict, Which Is An Error Of Law

3. Though The Order Quotes By-Laws, The Failure Of The Order To Address And To Properly Cite “The South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act of 1994” (NPCA), As To Votes And Vote Counting, Constitutes A Reversible Error Of Law

3.1 Respondents Are Not Immune From Suit

4. The Judge erred in the granting of Summary Judgment which prohibited Appellant from enjoying “due process” and “equal protection of the laws” by denying adjudication of questions of law as sought with Appellant's action, which represented abuse of Judicial Discretion.

5. The Judge abused his discretion by accepting without evidentiary support many false claims stated during the Hearing by Counsel, many of which appear in the Order in violation of the Judge's direction as stated in the Transcript.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Raymond A. Wedlake appeals from the Order which granted SJ for Respondents.

Note that in “Defendants' ... Motion For Summary Judgment” (R. 159-160) filed 01/07/20,

which was not supported by evidentiary exhibits, affidavits, nor other-legal materials, it said little more than:

... move ... for an Order granting the Defendants judgment as a matter of law, on the basis that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact ... (R. 159)

This lack of legal substance led to Appellant asking for clarification, and a Stay of Hearing (R. 189-191). Counsel's proposed order as signed by the Judge was used as a soapbox, where very little of Order's content was aired during the Hearing. Similarly, Counsel pleaded no such claims as found in the Order during the Hearing. The Court effectively converted a Motion for SJ into a trial on the Merits - a clear abuse of the Judge's discretion – since a demand was made for a "Jury Trial" in the Answer (R. 106) to Complaint (R. 34-41). As found in the Order, no statements are found in the Transcript (R. 260-274) about "... reviewed and considered all ...":

The Court has reviewed and considered all legal memoranda, exhibits, and oral arguments submitted by the parties. (Order p. 1; R. 22)

Many unsubstantiated claims, not supported by any evidentiary materials, were made by Counsel during the Hearing.

Appellant's Complaint was brought seeking justice via redress of alleged-unlawful actions perpetrated by the Board of Directors (Board) of Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc. (WHOA) against its members (Members), which includes Appellant. Board actions were alleged as unlawful since such actions violated pertinent sections from a statute: the "South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act of 1994" (NPCA), as well as WHOA By-Laws (R. 82-89). All such alleged-unlawful actions comprise a set of genuine issues of fact, where the filing attorney so attests via his "Attorney Affidavit" (R. 275-277). Respondents wrongfully attempt to diminish the standing of issues as genuine issues of fact.

Over time, Respondents negated several of Appellant's attempts to schedule, and thus to satisfy the Court's-mediation requirement, and ignored a Court-issued

“Notice of ADR” (R. 402). They cited claims of needed discovery, and that no mediation would be considered without first obtaining Appellant's deposition. No Court rule gives Counsel any authority to negate mediation based upon such a frivolous, and misdirected, claim. Shortly before the Court's-required-mediation deadline, Counsel filed: “Defendants' ... Motion for Summary Judgment” (R. 159-160), which Appellant believes was done with intent to preclude mediation. This action was done with Appellant's “Motion to Amend Complaint ...” (R. 155-158) still unresolved. Still to this date, which is well beyond the 300-day-after-case-filing deadline, Respondents have not participated in mediation.

Such appeal is based upon application of statutorily-wrong-legal standards, where a granting of SJ against Appellant was not based upon merits of the case, but rather was based upon other-technical-legalistic arguments, which had nothing to do with the merits of Appellant's case, and which was a far cry from justice being served on Appellant's request for interpretation of law. In his MOP (R. 202-209) of 02/24, Appellant cited many instances of genuine issues of material fact.

As set forth in Appellant's verified Complaint (R. 34-41), with Exhibits (R. 43-105) and Affidavit (R. 390-395), Appellant is a long-time member in good standing of WHOA and a long-time resident of the community. The Complaint brought genuine issues of fact, where the Court was asked to adjudicate disputed question-of-law issues.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is an appeal from the Order granting SJ (R. 22-32). Appellant appeals such granting based upon errors of law, as well as abuse of judicial discretion. From his MOP of 02/24 (R. 202-209), Appellant quotes paragraph 1:

1. The Supreme Court of South Carolina reviewed the granting of summary judgment in *Bennett, et. al. v. Carter, et. al.*, Appellate Case No. 2016-000065, under the same standard applied by the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. *Quail Hill, LLC v. Cty. of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 235, 692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010). The trial court shall grant summary judgment if "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRPC. "In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Quail Hill, LLC, ...* 387 S.C. at 235, 692 S.E.2d at 505 (quoting *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 563, 633 S.E.2d 505, 509 (2006)). Where, as here, the burden is upon Defendants to show a preponderance of evidence warranting summary judgment; "the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment." *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.* 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E. 2D 801, 803 (2009). (R. 202-203)

ARGUMENT

1. The Judge erred in the granting of Summary Judgment which is an error of law under Rule 56, SCRPC, since clearly genuine issues of material fact existed.

1.1 Rule 56(c) Does Not Allow Summary Judgment When Genuine Issues Of Fact Exist, Regardless Of Other Claims As To Matter Of Law

Appellant understands two prerequisites must be satisfied before SJ is appropriate, where it cannot be granted when genuine issues of fact exist pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC (emphasis added), in pertinent part:

(c) Motions and Proceedings Thereon. ... The **judgment sought shall be rendered** forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, **show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and** that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. ...

The Rule is clear that if even one-genuine issue of fact is disputed, then SJ cannot be granted.

The Order itself attests to, and presents, many disputed issues of fact which therefore require annulment of SJ. Many cases as cited in the Order's section titled: "Legal Standard", actually

speaking for Appellant after recognition that genuine issues of fact exist, and facts that very definitely have been disputed, where none remain undisputed nor were contested in a deficient manner, as argued again herein. Further, all of Appellant's allegations are supported, where many cite the NPCA to highlight direct violations of law as perpetrated by Respondents.

1.1a Numerous Disputed Material Facts Exist

It is clear from Appellant's Verified Complaint, and Exhibits and Affidavit thereto, coupled with Respondents' Answer and Motion for Summary Judgment, that there are a plethora of material facts in dispute, including averments in the Complaint (R. 33-42):

Number 9 - Plaintiff has suffered individualized injury

Number 10 - breaches of duty of care and good faith, (R. 35)

Number 11 - that the HOA Board members were not entitled to statutory protection since the WHOA was a "mutual benefit corporation",

Number 12 - that the Board Members were not so insulated in any event based upon the carve out for "gross negligence or willful or wanton conduct",

Number 13 - that the legal bill was improperly billed to WHOA since it was the Board Members and not the HOA that were the Defendants and indeed, the WHOA was a derivative-co-Plaintiff, (R. 36)

Numbers 17 (a) – failure to follow the requisite steps for indemnification under the SC Nonprofit Corporation Act, and

(b) as noted, the wrong party was sued - it should have been the Board not WHOA, (R. 36)

(c) payments were improper in any event since no "final judgment" has been rendered permitting under any circumstances, payment of such legal fees. (R. 37) (See also, Affidavit of Appellant)

Number 30 - no approval of Members was received, as required, for amounts in excess of \$1,500 (R. 38)

Number 35 - Breach of Fiduciary Duty by voting ballots not cast in favor of improper payment of legal fees, (R. 39)

1.1b The Order Granting Summary Judgment Improperly Failed to Address the Issue of Existence of Material Facts in Dispute and Served Instead as a Disposition of the Merits of the Case and is Erroneous in Several Respects

The “Facts” set forth in the Order are incorrect - there is no showing and cannot be a showing that Appellant has ever sued the members of WHOA, as incorrectly stated in the Order. Moreover, the thrust of any judicial action by Appellant has been to assure proper governance, such as actions for Declaratory Judgment to interpret the By-Laws or to confirm Appellant’s rights to certain information under the NPCA. Indeed in the referenced case, related to Appellant's request for Declaratory Judgment regarding interpretation of the By-Laws, Judge Stilwell **DENIED** Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss. Thus, the reference to a prior case is improper and irrelevant to the issue of judicial review of Respondents’ Motion for Summary Judgment.

As is clear from Appellant’s MOP, the “facts” set forth in the Order remain in dispute in numerous instances, as stated.

The Court apparently took it upon itself to conclude that the procedure followed for ballots was proper despite Appellant’s clear and cogent arguments that it was not; plus, for the Court to conclude that the payment of the legal fees was proper, a key and fundamental fact in dispute; and further conclude that the Board did not breach its fiduciary duty, and that though the legal bill was for services performed to Board members – not to WHOA, where the referenced case was brought derivatively by Appellant with WHOA as a co-Plaintiff, it was somehow deemed proper that WHOA be billed. This is another fundamental issue in dispute. Appellant’s cogent argument that the Board breached the “Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Woodington Subdivision” (Covenants, R. 278-288, where Covenants take priority over the By-Laws), that point was for some unknown reason completely by-passed in the Court’s Order.

The Order cites the fact that Appellant was on the Board when By-Laws Revision 3 were approved. That is irrelevant, and a red herring. The Order fails to address the fact that Appellant **DISPUTES** that Respondents were “not in violation of the NPCA (sic), and gets into the factual details of counting the votes cast – basically, once again, converting a Hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment into a Trial on the Merits. Per Respondent's demand, a Trial on the Merits should have been done before a Jury.

1.1c Specifics of Legal Analysis

The fact that a fiduciary duty exists for every Board of every Homeowners Association (HOA) is a clearly self-evident fact, and too trivial to warrant counter argument. The Board is the controlling and governing body of an HOA, and as every governing body holds a duty to act in a best interest of Members and to represent every Member, regardless of personal dislike or discriminatory feelings towards a Member. The Board owes to Appellant both of “Duty of Care” and “Duty of Loyalty” in performance of their governing actions:

To establish a claim for breach of fiduciary duty, [a claimant] must prove (1) the existence of a fiduciary duty (2) a breach of that duty owed to the [claimant] by the defendant and (3) damages proximately resulting from the wrongful conduct of the defendant.” (R. 26, bottom)

where indeed further proof of that duty owed to Appellant:

Duty of Care

Definition

The duty of care stands for the principle that directors and officers of a corporation in making all decisions in their capacities as corporate fiduciaries, must act in the same manner as a reasonably prudent person in their position would. (www.law.cornell.edu/wex/duty_of_care)

Also confirming a duty owed to Appellant by the Board, for WHOA where a “Declaration and Petition for Incorporation” (Sup. R. 1-3) exists {which does not comply with law per NPCA

Section 33-31-202(a)(2)(ii), (5), (6)}, though no “Articles of Incorporation” were filed with the Secretary of State, this section shows as excerpted (emphasis added):

SECTION 33-31-202. Articles of incorporation.

(a) The articles of incorporation must set forth:

(2) one of the following statements:

- (i) This corporation is a public benefit corporation.
- (ii) This **corporation is a mutual benefit corporation.**
- (iii) This corporation is a religious corporation;

(5) whether or not the **corporation will have members;**

(6) **provisions** not inconsistent with law regarding the **distribution of assets on dissolution;** and

(b) Unless the articles provide otherwise, no director of the corporation is personally liable for monetary damages for breach of any duty to the corporation or members. However, **this provision shall not eliminate or limit the liability of a director:**

(1) for any **breach of the director's duty of loyalty** to the corporation or its members;

(2) for **acts or omissions** not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a **knowing violation of law;**

(3) for any transaction from which a director derived an **improper personal benefit;** or

(4) under Sections 33-31-831 through 33-31-833.

This provision shall not eliminate or limit the liability of a director for an act or omission occurring before the date when the provision becomes effective.

Relative to Order claim (3) “damages proximately resulting from the wrongful conduct of the defendant”, a recent-WHOA invoice (R. 289-290) received by Appellant proves Respondents' breach of duty by imposing an allegedly-unlawful assessment, where the invoice clearly shows:

Past Due Amounts	
2019	\$150

and also erroneously states a dues amount, but then admits the \$250 amount includes the alleged-unlawful imposition of an assessment (which leaves required dues at \$200), which has caused and continues to cause damage to Appellant and to Members, showing on page 1:

The annual Woodington Homeowners Association dues for 2020 will remain at \$250 and are due to be paid by April 15, 2020. This \$250 includes the \$50 approved assessment for the legal bills dues to the McCabe law firm. ... If you have a past due balance, that amount appears separately on the invoice. ... (R. 289)

1.2 The Order Itself Attests To Genuine Issues Of Fact, All Of Which Confirm Alleged Breach Of Duty

Counsel's-previous statements made during the Hearing, and as found in the Order, acknowledges Board-conduct faults, and thus breach of fiduciary duty, in "... any neighborhood that has a homeowners association ...", but:

a) mistakenly and wrongfully claimed "... a fine ..." which never entered the picture in an amicably-resolved dispute related to paint applied to Appellant's garage door, which happened in long-past-calendar years 2015-2016, and was resolved long before any lawsuits were filed;

b) mistakenly and wrongfully claimed the law firm of McCabe, Trotter, and Beverly, P.C. represented WHOA in 2017-CP-23-06301, who was a co-Plaintiff with Appellant; this is also attested to by the law firm, themselves, where their "Motion to Dismiss" was denied by Order of the South Carolina Court of Appeals on November 8, 2019 (R. 15), Case 2018-001209; as related to their "Motion to Dismiss" (appeal of "06301", R. 137-143, emphasis added):

... When Appellant initiated this action, the individual Respondents comprised the entire board of directors, and thus possessed the managerial authority of the Association. This action was instituted against Respondents in their capacity as the current Board of Directors of the Association. **Notably, Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc., the corporate entity itself, was never made a party to this proceeding.** Because none of the Respondents are currently serving as directors or

officers of the Association, the Respondents no longer individually or collectively possess the managerial authority of the Association or the decision making capacity of the board of directors for the Association. Likewise, since all of the Respondents are no longer serving as directors or officers, they no longer serve in any corporate capacity. As such, they no longer possess a material interest in the matters alleged by Appellant/Plaintiff, and no longer serve in the capacity in which they were named in this suit (they were named in their capacity as directors). (R. 141-142)

which attests to another genuine issue of fact, which shows Respondents breached their duty.

Further, this Court gave judgment favorable to Appellant relative to a “wrong party” argument in the cited case, as stated during its hearing; as taken from MOP by Appellant:

And similarly a motion to dismiss on the same wrong party argument of not being the proper party was denied on January 3rd, 2019 [2018 with correction of a typographical error] by this Court in the case that was referenced by counsel. (R. 268, ll. 18-21)

Additionally, the meaning of “Board” as defined in the NPCA Section 33-31-140 clearly says:

“... irrespective of the name by which the individual or individuals are designated ...”, which applies regardless of names listed in a case caption:

SECTION 33-31-140. Definitions.

Unless the context otherwise requires;

(3) "Board" or "board of directors" means the individual or individuals vested with overall management of the affairs of the domestic or foreign corporation, irrespective of the name by which the individual or individuals are designated, except that no individual or group of individuals is the board of directors because of powers delegated to that individual or group pursuant to Section 33-31-801(c).

where this-case caption cited “the Board of Directors”: Scott Bashor, William Craigo,

Christopher Edwards, Denis Esteve, and Charles Koshis, in their capacity as Members of the

current Board of Directors of Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc.. Appellant also cites

that many cases throughout history show a proven fact: “Board of Directors”, is a legitimate party to a judicial action (R. 237-239).

c) mistakenly and wrongfully claimed the Board, under the law, got approval "... thru the community ..." to pay McCabe's legal fees, which attests to another genuine issue of fact, which shows Respondents breached their duty;

d) mistakenly and wrongfully claimed Appellant caused the Board to incur more legal fees to fight his suits, which has been willful, wanton, and grossly-negligent decisions made by the Board, given that Appellant asked the Court for "Nominal Damages" of \$1; no reasonably-prudent person in a similar situation would act in such manner, and decide to fight, incurring multi-tens-of-thousand dollars against \$1 in potential damages; this is yet another genuine issue of fact, which shows Respondents breached their duty;

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