THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

May 15 2020

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Judge of Circuit Court

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2019-CP-23-01501
Appellate Case No.: 2020-000506

Raymond A. Wedlake, as Member of
Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc.

Appellant,

v.

Scott Bashor, William Craigo, Christopher
Edwards, Dennis Esteve and Charles Koshis
in their capacity as Members of the current
Board of Directors of Woodington
Homeowners' Association, Inc. and Doe
Entities 1-10, and John & Jane Does 1-10,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

James P. Walsh (SC Bar #15177)

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The lower court correctly held that the Respondents did not breach their fiduciary duty

Appellant asserts that Respondents breached their fiduciary duty by accepting an invoice from a law firm that represented the Respondents in a previous lawsuit brought by the Appellant. The Appellant further argues that the referendum process and tabulation of the votes according to the Bylaws, which Appellant now argues was in violation of the Covenants, and subsequent payment of the due and owing legal debt also constituted a breach of fiduciary duty on the part of the Respondents.

“To establish a claim for breach of fiduciary duty [a claimant] must prove (1) the existence of a fiduciary duty, (2) a breach of that duty owed to the [claimant] by the defendant, and (3) damages proximately resulting from the wrongful conduct of the defendant.” *RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.*, 399 S.C. 322, 335–36, 732 S.E.2d 166, 173 (2012).

There is no dispute that as the elected governing Board of Directors for the WHOA, the Respondents owed the WHOA a fiduciary duty to uphold its responsibilities and obligations under the covenants and bylaws of the WHOA. *Murphy v. Yacht Cove Homeowners Ass'n*, 289 S. C. 367, 345 S. E. 2d 709 (1986). However, owing a fiduciary duty to the WHOA is not being disputed by the Respondents this is the only element that is satisfied. As set forth below, Respondents did not breach their fiduciary duty and the Appellant did not incur damages as a result of any alleged breach. As such, the Appellant has failed to establish his claim that the Respondents were in breach of their fiduciary duty.

B. Respondents were not in conflict with the Covenants when they adhered to the WHOA Bylaws

As an initial matter, the Appellant did not make any allegations in his complaint that the Covenants of the WHOA had been violated and/or that the WHOA Bylaws that the Respondents adhered to were in conflict with the Covenants. The Appellant is only raising the issue of a

potential conflict between the Covenants and Bylaws in his Appeal, and is claiming the Circuit Court's Order did not address this issue.

It is well settled that on an appeal, the defendant [Appellant] cannot complain that the Circuit Court signed its order prepared by the opposing counsel before the defendant [Appellant] was given an opportunity to review it and object to its contents where the defendant [Appellant] failed to move under Rule 59(e), SCRCP, to alter or amend the judgment. Grant v. South Carolina Coastal Council (S.C. 1995) 319 S.C. 348, 461 S.E.2d 388.

Here, the Appellant made no such motion and/or objection to the proposed Order to the Court. The lower court gave the Appellant an opportunity to do so, and Appellant declined. (See email as Exhibit). As such, Appellant cannot now attempt to impugn the lower Court's order by alleging that the Order did not address the issue of a potential conflict between the Covenants and Bylaws, which again was never plead in the Appellant's complaint.

However, assuming arguendo, and this Court elects to examine this issue, it is clear that by adhering to the WHOA Bylaws, that the Respondents in no way violated the Covenants as alleged by the Appellant.

Under South Carolina law, "restrictive covenants are construed like contracts and may give rise to actions for breach of contract." Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 361, 628 S.E.2d 902, 913 (Ct.App.2006). "An action to construe a contract is an action at law reviewable under an 'any evidence' standard." Pruitt v. S.C. Med. Malpractice Liab. Joint Underwriting Ass'n, 343 S.C. 335, 339, 540 S.E.2d 843, 845 (2001). On appeal of an action at law tried without a jury, this court's review is limited to correction of errors at law. Epworth Children's Home v. Beasley, 365 S.C. 157, 164, 616 S.E.2d 710, 714 (2005). The trial court's findings are equivalent to a jury's findings in a law action. King

v. PYA/Monarch, Inc., 317 S.C. 385, 389, 453 S.E.2d 885, 888 (1995). Questions regarding credibility and the weight of the evidence are exclusively for the trial court. *Sheek v. Crimestoppers **424 Alarm Sys.*, 297 S.C. 375, 377, 377 S.E.2d 132, 133 (Ct.App.1989). “We must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the respondents and eliminate from consideration all evidence to the contrary.” *Id.*

Here, the Appellant has not made a breach of contract claim, and only alleges that the Respondents have breached their fiduciary duty to the WHOA. However, assuming that this Court allows the Appellant’s argument to proceed and treats this as a breach of contract claim, then this Court should apply the business judgment rule when determining if the Respondents breached their contract/duties to the WHOA.

It is well settled that a corporation can only exercise the powers granted to it by law, its charter or articles of incorporation, and any by-laws made pursuant thereto. *Lovering v. Seabrook Island Prop. Owners Ass'n*, 289 S.C. 77, 82, 344 S.E.2d 862, 865 (Ct.App.1986) *aff'd as modified on other grounds*, 291 S.C. 201, 352 S.E.2d 707 (1987) *overruled on other grounds by S.C.Code Ann. § 33–31–302 “In a dispute between the directors of a homeowners association and aggrieved homeowners, the conduct of the directors should be judged by the ‘business judgment rule’ and absent a showing of bad faith, dishonesty, or incompetence, the judgment of the directors will not be set aside by judicial action.” *Goddard v. Fairways Dev. Gen. P'ship*, 310 S.C. 408, 414, 426 S.E.2d 828, 832 (Ct.App.1993); *see also Kuznik v. Bees Ferry Assocs.*, 342 S.C. 579, 599, 538 S.E.2d 15, 25 (Ct.App.2000) (“Under the business judgment rule, a court will not review the business judgment of a corporate governing board when it acts within its authority and it acts without corrupt motives and in good faith.”). “Acts beyond the scope of a corporation's powers as defined by law or its charter are *ultra vires*.” *Lovering*, 289 S.C. at 82,*

344 S.E.2d at 865. The business judgment rule only applies to *intra vires* acts, not *ultra vires* ones. *Kuznik*, 342 S.C. at 605, 538 S.E.2d at 28.

Here, the WHOA Covenants, specifically, Article 5, Section 3 states:

“(3) The Homeowners Association shall be entitled to collect dues, on an annual basis, assessed against each lot in an amount to be determined by the Board of Directors. These dues shall be administered by the officers of the Association and used for the payment of necessary expenses for the operation of the Homeowners Association and for the maintenance of any vacant and untended lot or unkept improved lot and for the payment of any common utility expenses and for the maintenance of any property deeded to the Homeowners Association.” (See Covenants as Exhibit)

As stated, the WHOA incurred \$53,684.50 for legal services rendered in the defense of Appellant’s lawsuit against the 2017 WHOA Board. This was a valid legal debt that became due and owing to the WHOA. Failure of the WHOA Board to pay the debt would have exposed the WHOA members to a lawsuit for non-payment and subsequently more attorney’s fees in defending that lawsuit. Ultimately, the WHOA would have been dissolved and the individual members of the WHOA would have been held responsible for paying the debt. Clearly, paying for legal fees incurred by the WHOA in defending a prior lawsuit brought by the Appellant was necessary for the operation of the WHOA, and therefore valid under the Covenants and not in conflict with the Bylaws. The WHOA Board was within its authority, acted without corrupt motives and in good faith under both the Covenants and Bylaws when they issued ballots to propose increasing WHOA assessments in order to pay for the WHOA’s legal fees.

Further, under the business judgment rule, the Respondents acted within its authority and acted without corrupt motives and in good faith in accordance with the vote tabulation that is specified in the WHOA Bylaws. The Respondents, within their authority and in good faith, properly counted the ballots both returned and not returned in accordance with the WHOA Bylaws, and in no

way breached its fiduciary duty and/or contract to WHOA members as is alleged by the Appellant.

Article 17, Section 3, which is the applicable section of the Bylaws states the following:

Ballots: Ballots are only mentioned in Article XVII (3) of the Woodington By-Laws. Article XVII (3) of the Woodington By-Laws states:

"Any and all issues may be resolved per the simple majority result of vote by all Association Members. The Board Secretary shall deliver a ballot to every Member, with a specified return date determined by the Board. The return date shall be no earlier than twenty-one (21) days from date of delivery. The voting period shall include at least three Saturdays, and three Sundays, where end of the voting period shall be neither Saturday nor Sunday. Ballots of Members not returned by the specified return date shall be voted by the Board. The Board's vote for non-returned ballots shall be clearly specified on ballots at the time they are delivered to Members."

(See Bylaws as Exhibit)

All balloting by the 2018 Board was done strictly by the procedure detailed in this section of the Bylaws. Each ballot sent to members contained the following disclosure as required by the bylaws:

*** THE BOARD'S VOTE OF "FOR" SHALL BE CAST IN THE EVENT THIS BALLOT IS NOT RETURNED BY FRIDAY, NOVEMBER 9TH***

(See Ballot as Exhibit)

In regard to the first ballot on Indemnification, the Board received 29 returned ballots in favor of indemnification and 12 ballots against indemnification. 24 ballots were not returned and as per the bylaws, were counted as "For" votes for indemnification, giving the Board a total of 53 votes in favor of indemnification. It should be noted that a total of 34 votes is needed for a majority. As clearly evidenced, and as per the bylaws, the Board received 53 votes in favor of indemnification, well over the majority. As such, plaintiff's assertion that the Board violated its fiduciary duty by accepting the legal invoice by McCabe, Trotter & Beverly, P.C. and assessed

payments on WHOA members for the incurred legal fees without a majority of votes from the community needed to pass the indemnification ballot is erroneous.

In regard to the second ballot on the proposed payment plan for the legal fees incurred by the Board, the Board received 32 returned ballots in favor of the payment plan and 9 returned ballots against the payment plan. 24 ballots were not returned and as per the Article 17, Section 3 of the Bylaws, the ballots not returned were voted on by the Board in support of the payment plan, giving the Board a total of 56 votes in favor of implementing the proposed payment plan. Again, it is reiterated that a total of 34 votes is needed for a majority. As clearly evidenced, and as per the Bylaws, between the ballots that were received and the ballots not returned which counted as proxy votes, the Board received 56 votes in favor of indemnification of the Board Members legal fees, well over the majority. As such, plaintiff's assertion that the Board did not receive a majority of votes needed to pass the payment plan proposal and thus violated their fiduciary duty is incorrect.

Based on the clear language of the Bylaws, it is evident that the defendants acted in accordance with the WHOA Bylaws, specifically Article 17, Section 3, when counting the votes (all returned and non-returned votes) for indemnification and payment plan for legal fees incurred from a previous lawsuit brought against the Board by the plaintiff. Moreover, these Bylaws do not appear to be in conflict with the Covenants. The Respondents disclosed the proxy stipulation as per the Bylaws in bold writing on the ballot and were not attempting to conceal the intention of the proposed assessment referendum. Respondents did not act improperly and did not violate their fiduciary duty to the members of the WHOA. There was no violation of fiduciary duty on the part of the Respondents and since there was no breach of that duty, the

entire basis of Appellant's case fails. As such, the lower court was correct in granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment.

C. Respondents were not in violation of the South Carolina Non-Profit Corporation Act

The defendants were not in violation of the South Carolina Non-Profit Corporation Act (SCNPCA) as it pertains to the approval for the proposed ballot referendum for indemnification and payment of legal fees. The Appellant argues that the proxy voting by the WHOA Board for unreturned ballots was not allowed under Section 33-31-724 of the SCNPCA, and therefore should supersede the "absentee proxy" counting of votes as permitted by the WHOA Bylaws.

However, under Section 33-31-140 of the SCNPCA, the votes for the proposed referendum for indemnification and payment and legal fees was valid and adhered to by the Respondents. Section 33-31-140, subsection 1 states:

(1) "Approved by the members" or "approval by the members" means approved or ratified by the members entitled to vote on the issue through either:

(a) the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes of the members represented and voting at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present or the affirmative vote of the greater proportion including the votes of any required proportion of the members of any class as the articles, bylaws, or this chapter may provide for specified types of member action; or

(b) a written ballot or written consent in conformity with this chapter.

Additionally, the official definitions of this section state:

1. Approved by (or Approval by) the Members.

This definition sets forth the minimum statutory requirements for having a matter approved by the members. Approval may be by a vote of the members at a membership meeting or by written ballot or written consent. Compare sections

To be approved by the members the following minimum conditions must be met:

1. A quorum must be present. Presence may be established by physical presence, presence by proxy or by signing a written consent or written ballot.
2. A majority of the votes represented and voting must vote in favor of a proposal. While abstentions may be counted in the quorum, abstentions are not counted as no votes in determining whether a majority of the votes have been cast in favor of approving a proposal.
3. The votes cast for a proposal must constitute a majority of the required quorum.³

Here, as per the WHOA bylaws, a quorum is one quarter $\frac{1}{4}$ of the membership, which currently requires seventeen members needing to be present to satisfy the quorum requirements. (Bylaws Exhibit). Based on Section 33-31-140 of the SCNPCA, that would mean that nine (9) votes would be required for majority for in a 17 member quorum in order to pass a proposal. Forty-one (41) votes were cast for the indemnification proposal which is clearly greater than the seventeen (17) votes required for the quorum. Twenty-nine (29) votes were returned in favor of the proposal (“Yes” votes) and twelve (12) were returned against the proposal (“No” votes). In regard to the proposal for the “Payment Plan,” forty-one (41) votes were cast, which again, is greater than the required seventeen (17) votes needed for a quorum. Thirty-two (32) votes were returned in favor of the proposal (“Yes” votes) and nine (9) against (“No” votes).

The returned votes for both proposals clearly exceeded number of votes that would be required to approve the matter (9 votes would be required for majority for a 17 member quorum). As 41 votes were returned for each proposal, and the indemnification and payment plan proposal had twenty-nine (29) and thirty-two (32) “Yes” votes respectively, both measures passed overwhelmingly under Section 33-31-140 of the SCNPA (29 “yes” votes out of 41 for the

³ The following example illustrates the interplay of these requirements. A quorum is a majority of the votes entitled to be cast. Assume the number of votes entitled to be cast is 100, the number of votes present is 60. If 26 votes are cast in favor of a proposal, 17 against the proposal and 17 abstain, the proposal is approved. The 26 votes for the proposal constitute a majority of the required quorum of 51. If, however, there are 25 votes in favor of a proposal, 12 against the proposal and 23 abstain, the proposal is defeated. The 25 votes for the proposal are not a majority of the required quorum. Consequently, the proposal is defeated even though the number of affirmative votes is greater than the number of negative votes.

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